UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
. EASTERN DISTRICT QF WISCONSIN

RICHARD PHELPS,
Plaintiff,
Case No.
v.

THIRD EDUCATION GROUP, INC.,
a Wisconsin Nonstock Corporation,

and

BRUCE THOMPSON,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Richard Phelps, for his Complaint against Defendants Bruce Thompson and
“"Third Education Group, Inc., alleges as follows:

THE PARTIES

L Plaintiff Richard Phelps (“Phelps™) is an individual resident of lowa, domiciled at
201 North 1* Avenue, Apt. 403, Towa City, 1A 52245,

2, Defendant Bruce Thompson (“Theompson™) is a natural person who, upon
information and belief, is domiciled at 2837 North Marictta Avenue, Milwaukee, Wisconsin
53211.

3. Upon information and belief, Defendant Third Education Group, Inc. (“TEG,
Inc.”) 15 a Wisconsin nonstock corporation, having a principal place of business at 2837 North

Marietta Avenue, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53211.



JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4, This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this Complaint by virtue of Title
28 U.S.C. §§1331, 1332 and 1338, and under its supplemental jurisdiction of 28 U.S.C. §1367,
the Counts of which concern acts of trademark infringement under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C.
§81114 and 1125(a); and unfair competition under the common law of Wisconsin. Moreover,
the parties are citizens of different states so as to also satisfy the requirements for diversity of
citizenship. The amount in controversy in the present case exceeds the sum of $75,000.00,
exclusive of interest and costs.

5. This Court has personal junsdiction over Defendants Thompson and TEG, Inc. by
virtue of, among other bases, their status as residents of this district, their solicitation and
transaction of business in this district, their engagement in tortious acts within this district and
elsewhere, and their overall contacts within the State of Wisconsin,

6. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

% This is an action for the infringement of a registered trademark in violation of the
Trademark Act of 1946, 15 U.S.C. § 1114; the use of false designations of origin and false and
misleading descriptions and representations in violation of the Trademark Act of 1946, 15 U.S.C.
§ 1125(a); and unfair competition under the Wisconsin common law.

FACTS

8. Plaintiff Phelps has authored a number of scholarly articles and books on a variety
of topics. Phelps founded and operates a peer-reviewed, online journal dedicated to the
discussion of educational policy, called Third Education Group Review. The journal is

published via a web site operated by Phelps at hitp://www.thirdeducationgroup.org, and currently



has over twenty merobers. Amongst the articles published on the thirdeducationgroup.org web
site is an article authored by Plaintiff Phelps in 2003, entitled “The Source of Lake Wobegon,” to
which Plaintiff is the exclusive holder of all copyright and other right, title and interest. In
connection with Plaintiff’s onling journal at thirdeducationgroup.org, Plaintiff received an
International Standard Serial Number (“ISSN™) of 1557-2870. Since its inception, Phelps has

continuously operated the Third Education Group Review and the www.thirdeducationgroup.org

web sites under his THIRD EDUCATION GROUP and THIRD EDUCATION GROUP
REVIEW trademarks.

9, The thirdeducationgroup.org domain name was registered by Phelps, and Phelps
owns all right, title and interest in and to that domain name.

10, In 2004, Phelps authored a Third Education Group web site that was published on
the Internet at www.thirdeducationgroup.org (the “Original Web Site”). As its author, Phelps
holds exclusive copyright in and to the Original Web Site. Phelps has not assigned or otherwise
transferred any such copyright to another.

11.  Subsequently, Phelps hired a third party web developer to modify, expand and
otherwise improve the Original Web Site. The third party web developer created a Modified
Web Site that is a derivative work of the Original Web site. To the extent that the third party
web developer held any copyright in or to the Modified Web Site or any portion thereof, those
rights have been assigned to Phelps by written assigninent.

| 12.  To protect the reputation of, and Phelps’ investment in, the Third Education
Group Review journal, Phelps filed for and obtained a federal trademark registration for the
THIRD EDUCATION GROUP mark. Specifically, on June 6, 2004, Phelps filed United States

Trademark Application No. 78/430,624 on THIRD EDUCATION GROUP for use in connection



with educational research. Based on that application, United States Trademark Registration No.
3.130,754 was issued to Phelps for the THIRD EDUCATION GROUP mark on August 15,
2006, a copy of which is attached héreto as Exhibit A.

13. Phelps holds, and has held since its issuance, all right, title and interest in and to
U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3,130,754,

14.  Upon information and belief, in 2005 and at various times prior, Plaintiff Phe].ps
and Defendant Thompson discussed the possibility of forming an entity, such as a not-for-profit
corporation, to undertake the future publication of the Third Education Group Review, In
consideration of such proposals, Defendant Thompson provided Phelps with a proposed set of
corporate bylaws, which if adopted, would have, inter alia, invested authority for operation of
the Third Education Group in Defendant Thompson and his wife. Phelps rejected Thompson’s
proposed bylaws and did not consent to formation of a corporation under those bylaws.

15.  In 2006, Defendant Thompson undertook a plan and conspiracy to form a
corporate entity and use that entity to wrongfully convert the Original Web Site, the Modified
Web Site, the Phelps Article, and Phelps’ goodwill in and to the THIRD EDUCATION GROUP
trademark, for Thompson’s own benefit and unjust enrichment. Without Phelps’ authorization or
consent, upon information and belief, Defendant Thompson and his wife, Kathleen Miller, filed
papers with the State of Wisconsin, purporting to form Defendant TEG, Inc., under the corporate
bylaws that Phelps had explicitly rejected.

16, Inso doing, without authority and without Phelps’ consent, Defendant Thompson
wmlaterally identified Thompson, Thompson’s wife Miller, and Phelps as purported members of

the TEG, Inc. Board of Directors under bylaws rejected by Phelps.



17.  Also without authority or Phelps’ consent, Defendant Thompson and his wife
promptly purported to expel Phelps from the TEG, Inc. Board of Directors and embarked on a
course of action with the intent of wrongfully ¢laiming ownership on behalf of Defendant TEG,
Inc. over Phelps' THIRD EDUCATION GROUP trademark, Phelps' Original Web Site, Phelps’
Modified Web Site and the Phelps Article — all despite Phelps’ refusal to affiliate with TEG, Inc.
from the time of its alleged formation.

18.  Upon information and belief, Defendant Thompson and/or Defendant TEG, Inc.
rcgilstcrcd the domain name TEGR.org, without the authorization or consent of Phelps. Upon
information and belief, the domain name TEGR.org was intentionally and knowingly selected by
Defendants because it is an abbreviation for, and is confusingly similar to, the title of Plaintiff’s
Third Education Group Review journal. Defendants began operation of an Internet web site at
the address http://www tegr.org (“the TEGR.org Web Site”), without Phelps’ authorization or
consent, which incorporated directly, and/or was a derivative work based upon, Phelps’ Original
Web Site and/or Phelps’ Modified Web Site.

19.  Like Plaintiff’s www.thirdeducationgroup.org web site, Defendants’ TEGR.org
Web Site comprises an online journal concerning educational policy. Prior to September, 2007,
the TEGR.org Web Site utilized the identical “Third Education Group Review” designation as its
title. Moreover, at all relevant times, Defendants’ TEGR.org Web Site has extensively utilized
the identical term “Third Education Group” throughout the site. Defendants’ infringing
publication, hosted at the TEGR.org Web Site, also purports to ISSN No. 1557-2870 — the same
ISSN number assigned to Plaintiff’s Third Education Group Review at

www.thirdeducationgroup.otg — thereby causing further confusion and mistake as to the source

and affiliation of Defendants’ infringing services.

































